EDWIN EXON
AND THE MELBOURNE ORPHANAGE

Notes taken from two publications on its history.

Reference No. 1: 

The First Hundred Years, being a Brief History of the Melbourne Orphanage from 1851 – 1951

Compiled by J.C. Butler. (South Melbourne Public Library Book No. 79622. (1000289002)).

Reference No. 2:

Asylum to Action. Family Action 1851 – 1991.

A History of Services and Policy Development for Families in Times of Vulnerability

by Donella Jags, pub. Family Action Services, Advocacy Books 1991.

* * * * * * *

1843 – 1849

They resided in other buildings. 1843-1849 a small Home was established for destitute aged people, and then also the children’s orphanage in a rented cottage in the city.

1851

The beginning of the Asylum.

First named “St. James’ Orphan Asylum”, and later in 1854 the “Melbourne Orphan Asylum”.

The site was a wooden building on the corner of Bourke and King Streets, Melbourne.

1855

Foundation Stone laid in Emerald Hill for the Asylum.

The children started to arrive at their new home. 

1859

Edwin Exon appointed Secretary and Superintendent.

He was in this position for 50 years.

Edwin’s Innovations:

“Exon’s first innovations may well have been made possible by connection to Melbourne’s new water reticulation system, which brought the Asylum a reliable supply of reasonably clean water from the Yan Yean Reservoir in 1859. (It had previously maintained its own, rather restricted, supply in underground tanks.) Anticipating further epidemics he persuaded the Committee to build an infirmary where sick children could be nursed in quarantine, started a large vegetable garden and bought more cows to provide fresh, disease-free milk. Ever mindful of children’s need to play as well as to work, he also arranged for the provision of swings and an elementary gymnasium.” (Ref. No. 2, p.38)

There is a detailed account on the fundraising projects and government involvement in the early years of the Asylum at Emerald Hill, including several Commissions at which he appeared and was interviewed (with success).

“For 50 years he guided and directed its affairs, and it is in no small degree due to his wise and efficient management that the Institute owes its great success. Because of this, Mr Exon is deserving of more than passing mention. He was a man of high ideals and strong purpose. He was a good disciplinarian and organiser, a shrewd business man, a born leader, and a man of high Christian principles.

Withal he was truly a “father to the fatherless” and took a deep interest in the welfare of the children committed to his care. Mrs Exon, who was at the same time appointed matron, proved in her sphere to be a worthy helpmeet to her husband. She, too, was an outstanding personality, with a deep and abiding love for children, and she left her mark on the institution during her 34 years of service.” (Ref.1, p.7) 

Note: The Institution was inaugurated by the Church, and thus religious education had an important place in its programme.

1875

The City Council wanted to establish the new Town Hill on the site of the Asylum, which was in the centre of city of South Melbourne.

An agreement was finally arrived at, with funds sufficient to remove the Asylum to another site.

1877

Land was purchased in Brighton – 12 acres.

It was part of the Dendy Estate.

A new idea was developed – cottage homes on the site as well as the main administration building.

Laying the Foundation Stone

“On 2 July 1877 Bishop Perry’ successor, Charles Moorehouse, laid a new foundation stone in the presence of Members of Parliament, the Mayor of Brighton, councillors and the Asylum’s own well-wishers. Supporters who remembered the ceremony at Emerald Hill cannot have failed to contrast the two occasions, for the weather at Brighton was glorious, the surroundings bore witness to progress and the presence of several hundred past and present children attested to the value of their enterprise. This time the proceedings went off without a hitch. The Bishop read a prepared, and profoundly dull, address, a Blind Institute band played at intervals and three choirs sang. Current children and 80 visiting apprentices were ‘regaled with an ample supply of delectable viands’ afterwards.” (Ref. No.2, p.66)

1878

Children started moving in.

Cottage mothers and fathers were selected and they also moved in.

1887

Edwin Exon takes a year off and travels to Europe.

“In 1887, Mr Exon, the Superintendent, paid a twelve months visit to England, Scotland, America and Europe. On his return, he submitted a report to the Committee, which, even in these days, makes interesting reading.

It referred to the trend towards smaller cottage homes for children; to the increase in secondary education amongst institutional children in England, and to the establishment of kindergarten classes in Orphanages. He claimed, too, that in its administration, methods of work and treatment of the children “the Melbourne Orphanage compared most favourably with the best of Dr. Barnardo’s Homes”.” (Ref.1, p. 17)

“Despite the Asylum’s financial difficulties, Exon had enough time to compose the words for the colony’s Jubilee Ode on the occasion of Queen Victoria’s Golden Jubilee in 1887, and to hear it performed by the Melbourne Liedertafel.

In the following year he went on a tour of the United States, Britain and Europe, finding as he went that ‘Christian charity is a bond which completely encircles the earth’ and the charitable workers belong to ‘a brotherhood and sisterhood as wide as the world.’ He was especially impressed by a visit of Dr. Barnardo, whose organisation was the only one to have a mixed programme like his own but was large enough to sort children into more categories, separating boys and girls and providing specialised training for each.” (Ref. No. 2, p. 71)

1909 

Edwin Exon retires.

“In 1909 Mr Exon resigned as Superintendent owing to advancing years. His resignation was accepted with sincere regret as, for 50 years, he had served the Asylum faithfully and well. Within 12 months of his retirement, Mr Exon died, and the Old Girls and Boys placed a marble memorial tablet in the entrance hall of the Asylum to mark their appreciation of his great work. At the same time Miss Thomas was commissioned to paint a portrait in oils of their old friend, and this, too, was subsequently hung in the front hall.” (Ref. No.1, p.20)

* * * * * * *

File Note:

These two references can be located at the Port Philip Local History Division of the Public Library.

The City of South Melbourne, in which Emerald Hill is located, has in recent years been amalgamated with other bay side councils to form the Port Philip Council. A brief biography of Edwin Exon can also be found in a small publication of Edwin Exon’s Poems by Frederick Shade, whose email address is: fredshade@westnet.com.au.
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